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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

Greenville Division 

 
 
American Humanist Association,    | CA No. _________________ 
John Doe and Jane Doe,   | 
as parents and next friends of their minor   | 
child, and Jill Doe,      |  
       | 
Plaintiffs,      | 
       | 
v.       | 
       | 
Greenville County School District,   |     
Burke Royster, in his individual capacity, and |     
Jennifer Gibson, in her individual capacity,  | 
       | 
Defendants.      | 
        
 
 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT 
 
 Seeking to protect and vindicate their civil liberties and constitutional rights, including 

the constitutional mandate of separation of church and state, Plaintiffs state as their complaint 

against the above-captioned Defendants the following: 

NATURE OF THE CLAIMS 

1. This action arises out of the Defendants’ policy, custom and practice of holding 

public elementary school graduations in Turner Chapel (the “Christian Chapel”) at the North 

Greenville University (the “Christian University”), a Christian school, and including sectarian 

Christian prayers as part of the official graduation ceremonies. The Defendants’ affiliation with 

and sponsorship, promotion and endorsement of these prayers and this religious setting, and its 

excessive entanglement with religion, violate the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment 

of the United States Constitution, as applied to South Carolina by the Fourteenth Amendment.   
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2. The Plaintiffs seek injunctive and declaratory relief and damages under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983 against the Defendants to redress this Establishment Clause violation, together with 

recovery of attorney’s fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 (b).   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This case arises under the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United 

States and presents a federal question within this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1331 and 1343(a)(3).  The Court has the authority to issue a declaratory judgment under 28 

U.S.C. § 2201 and to provide injunctive relief and damages under 28 U.S.C. § 1343 and Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 65.   

4. Venue is proper within this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b)(2) 

because the events giving rise to the Plaintiffs’ claims occurred herein. 

PARTIES 

5. The first Plaintiff, the American Humanist Association (“AHA”), is a nonprofit 

501(c)(3) organization incorporated in Illinois with a principal place of business at 1777 T Street 

N.W., Washington, D.C.  AHA is a membership organization, with over 175 chapters and 

affiliates nationwide and over 20,000 members, including parents in the Greenville County 

School District (the “School District”).  AHA promotes humanism and is dedicated to advancing 

and preserving separation of church and state and the constitutional rights of humanists, atheists 

and other freethinkers.  AHA brings this action to assert the First Amendment rights of its 

members. 

6. The second Plaintiff, Jill Doe, a minor, brings this action by and through her next 

friends, Jane Doe, her mother, and John Doe, her father (collectively, the “Doe Parents”).  Jill 

6:13-cv-02471-GRA     Date Filed 09/11/13    Entry Number 1     Page 2 of 25



 3 

Doe was a fifth grade student at Mountain View Elementary School (the “Elementary School”), 

a public school within the School District, during the 2012-13 school year.  

7. Jill Doe has been subjected to her Elementary School affiliating itself with, 

preferring and promoting religion and Christianity specifically. At the official graduation 

ceremony for her class (the “Graduation”), she was offended, affronted and distressed by the 

actions of the Elementary School in affiliating itself with and endorsing Christianity.  Jill wants 

to attend another graduation at a school in the School District as she progresses through the 

grades but does not want it to be held in a church (or similar religious venue) and/or to include 

prayer as part of the ceremony. 

8. The third Plaintiff, Jane Doe, brings this action in her capacity as a parent.  Jane 

Doe is a humanist and is a member of the AHA.  She attended the Graduation and felt alienated 

and stigmatized by the Elementary School’s endorsement of Christianity. She was concerned for 

her daughter, Jill Doe, and felt that the Elementary School was pressuring her daughter to believe 

in God and to adopt Christianity.  She also felt that her daughter was coerced into participating in 

the school-sponsored religious activity.   

9. The fourth Plaintiff, John Doe, brings this action in his capacity as a parent.  John 

Doe is a humanist and is a member of the AHA. He attended the Graduation and felt alienated 

and stigmatized by the Elementary School’s endorsement of Christianity. He was concerned for 

his daughter, Jill Doe, and felt that the Elementary School was pressuring his daughter to believe 

in God and to adopt Christianity. He also felt that his daughter was coerced into participating in 

the school-sponsored religious activity.  

10. The Doe Parents have other children who attend public schools in the School 

District.  None of these children have graduated from the fifth grade and if they remain in the 
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School District schools, they too will attend a fifth grade graduation ceremony in the School 

District.    

11. The first Defendant is the School District.  The School District operates the public 

school system in Greenville, South Carolina, including the Elementary School.  

12. The second Defendant is Burke Royster (“Royster”), the Superintendent of the 

School District at the time of the events described herein.   He is sued in his individual capacity.  

13. The third Defendant is Jennifer Gibson (“Gibson”), the principal of the 

Elementary School at the time of the events described herein.  She is sued in her individual 

capacity. 

FACTS 

14. For the past several years, the Elementary School has held its fifth grade 

graduation ceremonies on the campus of the Christian University.   

15. The graduation ceremonies are held in the Christian Chapel, which is centrally 

located in the heart of the campus.   

16. According to the Christian University’s website, the Christian Chapel is the site of 

“regular chapel services,” has “eight stained glass windows” and a pipe organ.   

17. The Christian University describes the Christian Chapel as a place where “[m]any 

students have received Jesus Christ as their personal Lord and Savior,” “evangelism” is a focus 

and “students are exposed to the truth of the gospel of Jesus Christ.”   

18. The Christian University is a sectarian institution affiliated with the Southern 

Baptist Convention. 

19. According to its website, the Christian University describes its philosophy thus: 

“As a Christian school, North Greenville University must keep the emphasis upon the person and 
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work of Jesus Christ, the Son of God, who was begotten by the Holy Spirit, born of the virgin 

Mary, true God and true man who died as the substitutionary atonement for the forgiveness of 

sin, was resurrected from the dead, and now reigns as the living Lord.” 

20. According to the Christian University’s website, it is “[a]ffiliated with and 

committed to the South Carolina Baptist Convention,” “provides opportunities for higher 

education in a Christian atmosphere,” promotes “a Christian lifestyle” on campus, emphasizes 

“spiritual growth” and “Christian service,” states clearly that “Christ must be the center of the 

campus for the purpose of Christian education and Christian character-building,” and focuses on 

creating a “biblically sound, Christ-centered environment.” 

21. The Christian University’s slogan is “Christ Makes the Difference.” A true and 

accurate image of the university’s logo is shown in Exhibit 1.  

22. The Christian University’s athletic teams are known as the Crusaders. 

23. The School District has been aware of and has approved of this practice of 

holding elementary school graduations at the Christian University.   

24. On May 30, 2013, the Elementary School held the Graduation at the Christian 

University. 

25. The venue on the campus of the University for the Graduation was the Christian 

Chapel.  

26. The Christian Chapel is a Christian place of worship.  

27. The auditorium of the Christian Chapel includes a Christian cross on the podium. 

28. The stained glass windows in the Christian Chapel depict religious imagery.  

29. During the Graduation events, both the cross and the stained glass were visible to 

students and other people in attendance.   
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30. The Christian University’s president, Jimmy Epting, has stated that the 

Elementary School has been holding its ceremony at the Christian University and in its Chapel 

for years. 

31. It is possible for the School District to hold its graduation ceremonies in a venue 

that is free from sectarian or religious iconography.  

32. The School District could hold its graduation ceremonies and similar events in 

facilities on the campus of any of its public schools, including in a gymnasium, auditorium, 

cafeteria or football stadium. 

33. For example, the Elementary School has a cafeteria. 

34. The graduation ceremony could be held on the campus of Blue Ridge Middle 

School, which has a gym.  Blue Ridge Middle School is approximately two miles away from the 

Elementary School. 

35. The graduation ceremony could be held on the campus of Blue Ridge High 

School, which is approximately four miles away from the Elementary School.  Blue Ridge High 

School has a gym and a football stadium. 

36. The School District could hold its graduation ceremonies in a community center 

auditorium, such as the local Sterling Community Center. 

37. The Christian University is about three miles away from the Elementary School.  

38. The official written program (the “Program”) for the Graduation provided for the 

delivery of two separate “prayers.”   A true and accurate picture of this Program is shown in 

Exhibit 2. 

39. The Program was distributed to parents and other attendees of the Graduation 

40. The Doe Parents received a copy of the Program at the Graduation.  
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41. Pursuant to the Program, two separate prayers were in fact delivered during the 

ceremony.  

42.  The first prayer was listed as the second item on the Program.  It followed 

directly after the “Welcome” by “Ms. Gibson.” 

43. The first prayer was delivered by a student named J.S.1  

44. Prior to the Graduation, a school official asked J.S. if he would deliver a prayer 

for the Graduation.  

45. The final prayer, listed on the Program as the “Closing Prayer,” was delivered by 

E.E.  

46. Prior to the Graduation, a school official asked E.E. if she would deliver a prayer 

for the Graduation.  

47. Both prayers delivered at the Graduation were Christian prayers.   

48. The “Closing Prayer” by E.E. consisted of the following language: “Thank you 

for coming. Let us pray. Dear Lord, thank you for this day and all your many blessings upon us. 

Lord, bless each and every one of our teachers, leaders and parents. Lead, guide and direct us as 

we begin this new adventure into middle school. We give you the praise for all our 

accomplishments. In Jesus’ name I pray. Amen.” 

49. The students participating in the Graduation were under the supervision and 

direction of the Elementary School. 

50. The students were told where to sit and practiced walking to their place.   

51. The students were told that Gibson was going to deliver a speech, and that Mr. 

Deyo was going to talk about the safety patrol. 

52. The two student speakers were asked to write a prayer. 
                                                        
1 The full names of minors have been redacted to comply with the local rules. 
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53. Each prayer was reviewed by a teacher or other school employee prior to the 

graduation. 

54. Each prayer was approved by a teacher or other school employee. 

55. On June 10, 2013, AHA sent a letter (the “AHA Letter”) to the School District 

informing it that its policy and practice of promoting and sponsoring sectarian graduation 

ceremonies was unconstitutional.  A true and accurate copy of the AHA Letter is attached as 

Exhibit 3.   

56. In a letter (the “District Letter”) dated June 11, 2013, the School District 

responded to AHA  through its general counsel, Douglas Webb, stating that it would continue to 

hold the graduation events at the Christian Chapel. A true and accurate copy of the District Letter 

is attached as Exhibit 4.  

57. The District Letter admitted that the Graduation was held in the Christian Chapel 

and that the ceremony included two prayers.   

58. The District Letter did not state that the School District would no longer hold 

graduation or other school events in the Christian Chapel or in a church. 

59. The District Letter did not state that the School District would no longer allow 

sectarian prayers at its graduation ceremonies.  

60. The AHA sent a second letter (the “Second AHA Letter”) to the Defendants, 

acting through their counsel, dated June 17, 2013, seeking to clarify the statement made in the 

District Letter. A true and accurate copy of the Second AHA Letter is attached as Exhibit 5. 

61. The Second AHA Letter explained to the School District’s counsel, in part, that 

the District Letter was “not clear as to whether prayers will be included as part of future 

graduation ceremonies and other school sponsored events. You say that the ‘school will not 
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endorse the use of prayer by students,’ but you do not say outright that prayers will not be 

offered at future events.”   

62. The School District responded to the second AHA letter in a letter (the “Second 

District Letter”) dated June 25, 2013. A true and accurate copy of the Second District Letter is 

attached as Exhibit 6.  

63. The Second District Letter stated that the School District would continue to allow 

sectarian prayers to be offered as part of its elementary school graduation ceremonies it would 

not discontinue using the Christian Chapel as the venue for its events.  

 CAUSES OF ACTION 

64. All preceding allegations are incorporated herein by reference. 

65. The Defendants’ policy and practice of permitting, sponsoring, staging, 

promoting, endorsing, affiliating itself with, and presenting prayers at school-sponsored events, 

including graduation ceremonies, violates the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment to 

the United States Constitution. 

66. The Defendants’ policy and practice of holding public school events, including 

elementary school graduations, in sectarian venues, such as the Christian Chapel, violates the 

Establishment Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

67. The Defendants acted under color of state law in violating the First Amendment 

as described herein in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.   

68.  Royster, in his individual capacity, knowingly or recklessly violated the 

Plaintiffs’ clearly established constitutional rights by the Graduation in the Christian Chapel and 

including sectarian prayers as part of the official Graduation ceremony. 
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69.  Jennifer Gibson, in her individual capacity, knowingly or recklessly violated the 

Plaintiffs’ clearly established constitutional rights by the Graduation in the Christian Chapel and 

including sectarian prayers as part of the official Graduation ceremony. 

 RELIEF SOUGHT 

70. The Plaintiffs request that this Court grant the following relief: 

i. a declaratory judgment that the Defendants’ promotion and endorsement of and 

affiliation with the sectarian prayers included as part of School District graduation ceremonies 

violates the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution and 

is a violation of the Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

ii. a declaratory judgment that the Defendants’ policy of holding school-sponsored 

events, including graduation ceremonies, in sectarian venues, such as the Christian Chapel, 

violates the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution and 

is a violation of the Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

iii. a permanent injunction enjoining the Defendants, their successors and any person in 

active concert with the Defendants from knowingly, intentionally, or negligently allowing: (i) 

prayers to be delivered as part of any school-sponsored event, including but not limited to 

graduation ceremonies; and (ii) school-sponsored events, including graduations, to be held in 

churches, chapels and other places of worship or similar religious venues, including but not 

limited to the Christian Chapel or other locations on the campus of the Christian University or 

any other sectarian institution; 

iv. An award to the Plaintiffs of damages from the School District; 

v. An award to the Plaintiffs of punitive damages from Burke Royster in his individual 

capacity for his knowing or reckless disregard of the Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights; 
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vi. An award to the Plaintiffs of punitive damages from Jennifer Gibson in her 

individual capacity for her knowing or reckless disregard of the Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights;  

vii. An award to the Plaintiffs of their reasonable costs, disbursements and attorneys’ 

fees as allowed by law from the Defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

viii. An award of such other and further relief as the court shall deem just. 

Respectfully submitted, 

    

s/   Aaron J. Kozloski     
Aaron J. Kozloski, Fed. ID No. 9510 
Capitol Counsel, LLC 
P.O. Box 1996, Lexington, SC 29071 
phone 803-465-1400 / facsimile 888-513-6021 
aaron@capitolcounsel.us 
Attorney for the Plaintiffs 

September 11, 2013 

Lexington, South Carolina 
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VERIFICATION 
 

I, the undersigned Plaintiff, Jill Doe, have read this Verified Complaint and the same is, 
by my own knowledge and upon information furnished to me, true.  I declare under penalty of 
perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing is true and correct.   
 
Dated September 4, 2013. 
 
 

 
    Jill Doe, by and through her next friends, Jane Doe and John Doe  
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VERIFICATION 
 

I, the undersigned Plaintiff, Jane Doe, have read this Verified Complaint and the same is, 
by my own knowledge and upon information furnished to me, true.  I declare under penalty of 
perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing is true and correct.   
 
Dated September 4, 2013. 
 
 
 

 
Jane Doe 
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VERIFICATION 
 

I, the undersigned Plaintiff, John Doe, have read this Verified Complaint and the same is, 
by my own knowledge and upon information furnished to me, true.  I declare under penalty of 
perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing is true and correct.   
 
Dated September 4, 2013. 
 
 

 
  John Doe 
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Exhibit 1 
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Exhibit 2 

 

In compliance with Rule 13.4.2 of the Electronic Case Filing Policies and Procedures, the names 
of minors have been redacted.  
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Exhibit 3 

 

 

 1!

 
June 10, 2013 

W. Burke Royster 

Superintendent 

301 E. Camperdown Way 

Greenville, SC 29601 

 

Jennifer Gibson 

Principal 

Mountain View Elementary School 

6350 Mountain View Road 

Taylors, SC 29687 

 

cc:!wroyster@greenville.k12.sc.us; jgibson@greenville.k12.sc.us  

  

Re:  School Graduation Held in Church and Including Prayers Is Unconstitutional  

 

 The parents of a student at Mountain View Elementary School (“MVS”) recently informed us 

that her child’s fifth grade graduation ceremony took place in a church and included prayers as part of 

the ceremony.  The school’s actions were clearly unconstitutional.  

 

The American Humanist Association (“AHA”) is a national nonprofit organization with over 

20,000 members and 125,000 supporters across the country, including in South Carolina.  The mission 

of AHA’s legal center is to protect one of the most fundamental principles of our democracy: the 

constitutional mandate requiring separation of church and state.
1
   

 

The Supreme Court has long made clear that the Establishment Clause “erected a wall between 

church and state” which “must be kept high and impregnable.”  Everson v. Bd. of Ed. of Ewing Twp., 

330 U.S. 1, 18 (1947).  To do so, “the Constitution mandates that the government remain secular, 

rather than affiliate itself with religious beliefs or institutions.”  County of Allegheny v. ACLU, 492 

U.S. 573, 610 (1989).  The school’s practice of holding public school graduations in a church and 

including prayer as an official part of the ceremony affiliates it with Christianity in violation of these 

principles.    

 

First, holding a public school graduation (for young and impressionable elementary students, 

no less) in a place of worship such as a Christian church, adorned with overtly sectarian symbols, is 

itself unconstitutional.  See Doe v. Elmbrook Sch. Dist., 687 F.3d 840, 851 (7th Cir. 2012) (en banc) 

(ruling that holding a public high school graduation in a church violated the Establishment Clause).  

The Establishment Clause is violated where, as here, “the government directs students to attend [an 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1
  The very first sentence of the Bill of Rights mandates that the state be secular: “Congress shall make no law respecting an 

establishment of religion.”  This provision, known as the Establishment Clause, “build[s] a wall of separation between 

church and State.” Reynolds v. United States, 98 U.S. 145, 164 (1878).  The Establishment Clause applies to the states 

pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment.  Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 303 (1940). 
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Exhibit 4 
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Exhibit 5 

6:13-cv-02471-GRA     Date Filed 09/11/13    Entry Number 1     Page 22 of 25



 23 

Exhibit 6 
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